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The Grand Jury charges:

RELEVANT PERSONS AND ENTI TI ES

1. At all tinmes relevant to this Indictnent,

Worl dCom Inc. (“WrldConf) was a corporation organized under the
laws of the State of CGeorgia with its headquarters in Cinton,
M ssi ssi ppi .

2. At all tinmes relevant to this Indictment,
Wor 1 dComi s common stock was |isted under the synbol “WCOM on the
NASDAQ Nati onal Market System an electronic securities market
system As of May 31, 2002, WorldComis |argest institutional
shar ehol ders i ncluded Bernstein Investnment Research and
Managenent, Qppenheinmer Capital, Merrill Lynch | nvestnent
Managers, and Coll ege Retirenment Equities Fund, all of which
mai nt ai ned offices in New York, New York.

3. At all tinmes relevant to this Indictnment, BERNARD

J. EBBERS, the defendant, served as Chi ef Executive Oficer,



President, and a director of WorldCom At all tines relevant to
this Indictnment, EBBERS signed the Annual Reports on Form 10-K
that WrldComfiled with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commi ssion (the “SEC’). At all tinmes relevant to this
I ndi ct ment, EBBERS owned mllions of shares, and options to
purchase shares, of Wrl dCom common stock

4. At various tines relevant to this Indictnent,
Scott D. Sullivan, a co-conspirator not named as a defendant
herein, served as Chief Financial Oficer, Treasurer, and
Secretary of WorldCom At all tines relevant to this Indictnent,
Sullivan directed the preparation of and signed the Annual
Reports on Form 10-K and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q t hat
WrldComfiled with the SEC

BACKGROUND

Worl dConi s Busi ness

5. At all tinmes relevant to this Indictnent, Wrl dCom
provi ded to busi nesses and consuners around the world a broad
range of conmuni cations services, including, anong other things,
data transm ssion services, Internet-related services, comerci al
voi ce services, international comunication services, |ong
di stance service, and other teleconmunication services. WrldCom
owned and operated extensive global network facilities, which
spanned six continents, reached every major city center in the

wor |l d, and connected nore than 60,000 buildings. WrldCons



gl obal network included nore than 90,000 route mles of
terrestrial and undersea fiber-optic cable. This network was
designed to support the largest array of data comrunication
products and services in the world.

6. At all tinmes relevant to this Indictnment, to serve
custoners that were not directly connected to its network,
Worl dCom paid fees to use or lease facilities and connections
from other tel econmunication conpanies. These fees, known as
“l'ine costs,” were WorldConis | argest expense.

Worl dConmi s Conmuni cati ons Wth The I nvesting Public

7. At all tinmes relevant to this Indictnment, BERNARD
J. EBBERS and Scott D. Sullivan, on behalf of WrldCom provided
menbers of the investing public with information concerning
Worl dComi s financial results and operating performance. EBBERS
and Sullivan provided such information through various nethods,
including in WrldConmis public filings wth the SEC, in periodic
news rel eases and ot her corporate announcenents, in statenments
made in conference calls with professional securities analysts
and investors, and in neetings and conferences held with anal ysts
and investors in New York, New York and el sewhere. Menbers of
the investing public considered and relied upon the information
provi ded by EBBERS and Sullivan in deciding whether to purchase,

hold, or sell WrldCom securities.



8. Part of the information routinely provided by
BERNARD J. EBBERS and Scott D. Sullivan to nmenbers of the
i nvesting public was so-call ed “guidance” concerning Wrl dCom s
operational and financial results for upcom ng reporting peri ods.
The “gui dance” provided by EBBERS and Sullivan concerned vari ous
measures of Worl dConis operational and financial perfornmnce,
including its expected cash earnings per share (“EPS’), “Earnings
Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, and Anortization”
(“EBI'TDA”), net inconme, expenses, revenue growh, and capital
expendi t ur es.

9. At all tinmes relevant to this Indictnment, nunerous
securities analysts and investors relied on the “gui dance”
provi ded by BERNARD J. EBBERS and Scott D. Sullivan to gauge
Wor | dComi s performance, to predict WrldConis expected earnings,
and to dissem nate estimtes of Wrl dCom s expected perfornmance
to the larger investing public. Menbers of the investing public
closely foll owed such “earnings estimates” or “anal ysts’
expectati ons” because, historically, when conpany earnings fai
to meet such estimates, conpany stock prices typically decline,
and when conpany earni ngs exceed such estimates, conpany stock
prices typically rise.

Wrl dConis Financi al Reporting Process

10. At all times relevant to this Indictnent, at the

cl ose of each nonth and each quarter of WrldConmis fiscal year,



enpl oyees in WrldCom s financial and accounting departnents
col l ected and sunmari zed information reflecting WrldConi s
operating performance and financial results for the particul ar
period in question. This information was reflected in various
financial statenents and reports.

11. At all tinmes relevant to this Indictnment, WrldCom
tracked its revenue on a nonthly basis through the use of a
report referred to internally as “MonRev.” BERNARD J. EBBERS
desi gned MonRev to allow hinself, Scott D. Sullivan, and ot her
Wor | dCom of ficers to review the revenue generated by each of
Wor|l dCom s sal es channel s, including “Major Nationals,”
“Whol esal e,” “Qd obal ,” “Mass Markets,” “International,” and
“Specialized Sales.” Revenue that was not generated through
t hese sal es channel s was tracked separately and classified in
MonRev as “Corporate Unallocated.” Menbers of WrldConm s Revenue
Accounting Departnent prepared MonRev each nonth and provided it
to EBBERS, Sullivan, and others. EBBERS carefully scrutinized
every MonRev report. Unlike all other recipients of MnRev,
EBBERS denanded that his copy be printed on a special “green-bar”
conputer paper to facilitate his review. EBBERS and Sullivan
regularly net to discuss the results reported in MnRev.

12. At all tinmes relevant to this Indictnment, WrldCom
tracked its Selling, General, and Adm ni strative expenses

(“SG&A”) on a nonthly and quarterly basis through its “Managenent



Budget Variance Report.” Menbers of Wrl dConmis Genera
Accounting Departnent prepared the Managenent Budget Vari ance
Report each nonth and provided it to BERNARD J. EBBERS, Scott D.
Sul l'ivan, and others. EBBERS and Sullivan regularly nmet to

di scuss the results reported in the Managenent Budget Vari ance
Report.

13. At all tinmes relevant to this Indictnment, WrldCom
tracked expenses relating to its line costs on a quarterly basis
t hrough the preparation of a prelimnary income statenent.
Menmbers of Worl dConmis General Accounting Departnent prepared a
prelimnary incone statenment each quarter and provided it to
Scott D. Sullivan and others. Sullivan, in turn, provided these
prelimnary incone statements to BERNARD J. EBBERS. At the close
of each financial reporting period, EBBERS and Sullivan net to
di scuss WrldComis prelimnary operating results, including
Worl dComi s |ine cost expenses.

14. At all tinmes relevant to this Indictnent,
Wor | dComi s seni or nmanagenent participated in periodic neetings to
di scuss expectations regarding WrldConis operating results for
t he upcomi ng nonths. In connection with these so-called
“Qut | ook” neetings, BERNARD J. EBBERS and Scott D. Sullivan,
anong ot hers, reviewed docunents that summarized anti ci pated
events that would affect WrldComis revenues in the foll ow ng

nmont hs. EBBERS and Sullivan regularly nmet to discuss the



financial results and projections reflected in the various
docunents presented during the “Qutlook” neetings.

THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD

| nt r oducti on

15. As set forth nore fully below, fromin or about
Sept enber 2000 through in or about June 2002, BERNARD J. EBBERS,
Scott D. Sullivan, and their co-conspirators engaged in an
illegal schenme to deceive nmenbers of the investing public,

Wor | dCom shar ehol ders, securities analysts, the SEC, and ot hers,
concerning WrldConm s true operating performance and financi al
results.

16. As BERNARD J. EBBERS, Scott D. Sullivan, and their
co-conspirators knew, by no later than in or about Septenber
2000, Worl dConis true operating performance and financial results
were in decline and had fallen materially bel ow anal ysts’
expectations. EBBERS neverthel ess insisted that Wrl dCom
publicly report financial results that nmet anal ysts’
expectations. As a result, rather than disclosing WrldConm s
true condition and suffer the ensuing decline in the price of
Wor | dComi s common stock, Sullivan, with EBBERS s know edge and
approval, directed co-conspirators to make fal se and fraudul ent
adj ustnents to Wirl dConi s books and records.

17. Thereafter, fromin or about Septenber 2000

t hrough in or about June 2002, for the purpose of disguising



Worl dComi s true operating performance and financial results,
EBBERS, Sullivan, and their co-conspirators caused Wrl dCom s
reported figures for revenue, SG&A and |ine cost expenses,

EBI TDA, depreciation expense, net inconme, and EPS to be falsely
and fraudul ently mani pul ated. As EBBERS, Sullivan, and their co-
conspirators knew, the aggregate effect of these adjustnents,

whi ch were made in round-dollar anbunts and consistently totaled
hundreds of mllions of dollars per quarter, was to present a
materially fal se and m sl eadi ng picture of WrldCom s true
operating performance and financial results.

18. Fromin or about Septenber 2000 through in or
about June 2002, in furtherance of the schene, BERNARD J. EBBERS,
Scott D. Sullivan, and their co-conspirators nmade repeated public
statenents in which they (a) fal sely descri bed Wrl dConi s
operating performance and financial results, (b) omtted to
di scl ose material facts necessary to nake the statenents that
t hey nade about Worl dConi s operating performance and financi al
results conplete, accurate, and not m sleading, and (c) caused
WrldComto file financial statenments with the SEC that presented
a mterially fal se and m sl eadi ng description of WrldCom s
operating performance and financial results. Through this
schene, EBBERS, Sullivan, and their co-conspirators inflated and

mai ntai ned artificially the price of WrldCom common st ock.



19. On or about June 25, 2002, Worl dCom announced
that, as a result of an internal investigation, it would have to
i ssue restated financial statenents. |In the days following this
announcenent, the price of WrldConmis common stock plummeted nore
than 90% resulting in an aggregate decline in sharehol der val ue
of nore than $2 billion.

The Fraudul ent Adjustnents To Worl dComi s Books And Records

20. In or about Septenber 2000, after review ng MonRev
and ot her docunents summari zing Wrl dComi s financial results and
operating performance for July and August 2000, Scott D. Sullivan
advi sed BERNARD J. EBBERS that Wrl dCom s operating perfornance
and financial results had deteriorated, and that Wrl dConi s
earnings for the upcom ng reporting period would not neet
anal ysts’ expectations. Sullivan further advised EBBERS t hat
Wor | dCom shoul d i ssue an “earnings warning” to alert the
i nvesting public about WirldComis deteriorating financial
performance. EBBERS refused to issue an earnings warning.
| nst ead, EBBERS and Sul|livan agreed to take steps to conceal
Worl dComi s true financial condition and operating performance
fromthe investing public.

21. In or about Cctober 2000, rather than disclosing
Worl dComi s true financial condition and operating perfornance,
BERNARD J. EBBERS and Scott D. Sullivan instructed subordinates,

in substance and in part, to falsely and fraudul ently book



certain entries in WrldConmis general |edger, which were designed
to increase artificially WrldConm s reported revenue and to
decrease artificially WrldCom s reported expenses, resulting in,
anong other things, artificially-inflated figures for WrldCom s
EPS, EBI TDA, and revenue growh rate. The adjustnents included
(a) reductions nmade to |line cost expense accounts by debiting
certain reserve and liability accounts, which reductions |acked
any business justification or supporting docunentation, and (b)
i ncreases to revenue, which in light of their departure from
prior revenue recognition policies, and in light of their
aggregat e anount, made Worl dComi s reported revenue materially
m sl eadi ng. EBBERS and Sullivan instructed others to nmake these
adj ustnents solely in an effort to report results that would
sati sfy anal ysts’ expectations, even though EBBERS and Sullivan
knew that WorldComis true results in fact failed to neet those
expect ati ons.

22. In or about January 2001, BERNARD J. EBBERS and
Scott D. Sullivan again determ ned that WrldCom s financi al
results for the fourth quarter of 2000 woul d not neet anal ysts’
expectations. Rather than disclose WrldConis true financial
condi tion and operating performance, in or about February 2001,
EBBERS and Sul livan instructed subordi nates, in substance and in
part, to falsely and fraudulently book certain entries in

Wor 1 dComi s general |edger, which were designed to increase

10



artificially WrldCom s reported revenue and to decrease
artificially WrldConmis reported expenses, resulting in, anpng
other things, artificially-inflated figures for WrldCom s EPS,
EBI TDA, and revenue growh rate. These adjustnments included (a)
reductions made to |line cost expense accounts by debiting certain
reserve and liability accounts, which | acked any busi ness
justification or supporting docunentation, and (b) increases to
revenue, which in light of their departure fromprior revenue
recognition policies, and in |light of their aggregate anount,
made Worl dComi s reported revenue materially m sl eadi ng. EBBERS
and Sullivan instructed others to nake these adjustnents solely
in an effort to report results that would satisfy anal ysts’
expectations, even though EBBERS and Sullivan knew t hat
Worl dComis true results in fact failed to neet those
expect ati ons.

23. In or about March 2001, BERNARD J. EBBERS and
Scott D. Sullivan determ ned that Worl dComis financial results
for the first quarter of 2001 would not neet anal ysts’
expectations. Sullivan advised EBBERS, in substance and in part,
t hat nenbers of Worl dConis General Accounting Departnent could no
| onger reduce |line cost expense accounts by debiting certain
reserve and liability accounts, as they had done previously.
| nstead, Sullivan advised EBBERS, in substance and in part, that

menbers of Worl dConmis General Accounting Departnment woul d
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transfer line cost expenses to capital expenditure accounts.
Sul l'i van advi sed EBBERS, in substance and in part, that these
transfers were being made to keep Wrl dConi s expenses-to-revenue
ratio in line with figures reported in previous periods and in an
effort to neet analysts’ expectations for Wrl dConi s net incone,
EPS, and EBI TDA.

24. In or about March 2001, Scott D. Sullivan
instructed nmenbers of the General Accounting Departnent to make
journal entries in WrldCom s general |edger, which resulted in
the transfer of hundreds of mllions of dollars fromline cost
expense accounts to capital expenditure accounts. Sullivan's
instructions were comruni cated, and the journal entries affecting
the transfers were nade, after WrldConis field offices’ books
were closed for the quarter. EBBERS and Sullivan instructed
others to nmake these adjustnents solely in an effort to satisfy
anal ysts’ expectations, including those regarding Wrl dComi s net
i nconme, EPS, and EBI TDA, even though EBBERS and Sullivan knew
that WorldConmis true results in fact failed to neet those
expectations. As described nore fully below, Sullivan directed
simlar line cost transfers in each of the quarters from March
2001 through March 2002, resulting in inproper transfers totaling
approximately $3.8 billion.

25. In or about June 2001, BERNARD J. EBBERS and Scott

D. Sullivan determ ned that Worl dCom s financial results for the

12



second quarter of 2001 would not neet anal ysts’ expectations. In
or about July 2001, rather than disclose WrldComs true
operating performance and financial condition, EBBERS and

Sul l'ivan instructed subordinates, in substance and in part, to
falsely and fraudul ently book certain entries in WrldConi s
general | edger, which were designed to increase artificially

Worl dComi s reported revenue and to decrease artificially

Wor|l dComi s reported expenses, resulting in, anong other things,
artificially inflated figures for WrldCom s EPS, EBITDA, and
revenue gromh rate. These adjustnents included (a) the inproper
capitalization of line cost expenses, and (b) increases to
revenue, which in light of their departure fromprior revenue
recognition policies, and in |light of their aggregate anount,
made Worl dComis reported revenue materially m sleading. Wth
respect to these revenue adjustnents, WrldCom created a process,
referred to internally as “Close the Gap,” designed solely to
identify adjustnments that woul d increase reported revenue in an
effort to satisfy analysts’ expectations. EBBERS and Sullivan
both participated extensively in the “Cl ose the Gap” process.
EBBERS and Sullivan instructed others to nmake these adjustnents
solely in an effort to report results that would satisfy

anal ysts’ expectations, even though EBBERS and Sul |i van knew t hat
Worl dComis true results in fact failed to neet those

expect ati ons.
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26. I n or about Septenber 2001, BERNARD J. EBBERS and
Scott D. Sullivan determ ned that Worl dComis financial results
for the third quarter of 2001 would not neet anal ysts’
expectations. Rather than disclose WrldComis true operating
performance and financial condition, in or about Cctober 2001,
EBBERS and Sul livan instructed subordi nates, in substance and in
part, to falsely and fraudulently book certain entries in
Wor| dComi s general |edger, which were designed to increase
artificially WrldCom s reported revenue and to decrease
artificially WrldConmis reported expenses, resulting in, anpong
other things, artificially inflated figures for WrldConm s EPS,
EBI TDA, and revenue growh rate. The adjustnents included (a)
the inproper capitalization of |line cost expenses, and (b)
i ncreases to revenue, which in light of their departure from
prior revenue recognition policies, and in light of their
aggregat e anount, nmade Worl dComi s reported revenue materially
m sl eading. Wth regard to the revenue adjustnments, EBBERS and
Sullivan, through the “C ose the Gap” process, caused WrldComto
report publicly revenue growth of approximtely 12 percent, even
t hough Worl dConis true operating performance yiel ded revenue
growt h of approximtely 6 percent. EBBERS and Sullivan
instructed others to nmake these adjustnments solely in an effort
to report results that would satisfy anal ysts’ expectations, even

t hough EBBERS and Sul livan knew that WrldConis true results in

14



fact failed to neet those expectations.

27. In or about January 2002, BERNARD J. EBBERS and
Scott D. Sullivan determ ned that Worl dComis financial results
for the fourth quarter of 2001 would not neet anal ysts’
expectations. Rather than disclose WrldComi s true operating
performance and financial condition, in or about February 2002,
EBBERS and Sul livan instructed subordi nates, in substance and in
part, to falsely and fraudulently book certain entries in
Wor 1 dComi s general |edger, which were designed to increase
artificially WrldCom s reported revenue and to decrease
artificially WrldConmis reported expenses, resulting in, anpng
other things, artificially inflated figures for WrldCom s EPS,
EBI TDA, and revenue growh rate. These adjustnments included (a)
the inproper capitalization of |line cost expenses, and (b)
i ncreases to revenue, which in light of their departure from
prior revenue recognition policies, and in light of their
aggregat e anount, nmade Worl dComi s reported revenue materially
m sl eadi ng. EBBERS and Sullivan instructed others to nmake these
adj ustnents solely in an effort to report results that would
sati sfy anal ysts’ expectations, even though EBBERS and Sullivan
knew that WorldComis true results in fact failed to neet those
expect ati ons.

28. In or about March 2002, BERNARD J. EBBERS and

Scott D. Sullivan determ ned that Wrl dConis financial results

15



for the first quarter of 2002 woul d not neet anal ysts’
expectations. Rather than disclose WrldConis true operating
performance and financial condition, in or about April 2002,
EBBERS and Sul livan instructed subordi nates, in substance and in
part, to falsely and fraudul ently book certain entries in

Wor| dComi s general |edger, which were designed to increase
artificially WrldCom s reported revenue and to decrease
artificially WrldConmis reported expenses, resulting in, anpong
other things, artificially inflated figures for WrldCom s EPS,
EBI TDA, and revenue growh rate. These adjustnments included (a)
the i nproper capitalization of |ine cost expenses, and (b)

i ncreases to revenue, which in light of their departure from
prior revenue recognition policies, and in light of their
aggregat e anount, nmade Worl dComi s reported revenue materially

m sl eadi ng. EBBERS and Sullivan instructed others to nmake these
adj ustnents solely in an effort to report results that would
satisfy anal ysts’ expectations, even though EBBERS and Sullivan
knew that WorldComis true results in fact failed to neet those
expect ati ons.

Fal se Statements And M sl eadi ng Om ssi ons
In Worl dConis SEC Filings

29. To sell securities to nenbers of the public and
mai ntain public trading of its securities in the United States,
Worl dCom was required to conply with provisions of the federal

securities laws, including the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

16



and regul ati ons pronul gated t hereunder, that were designed to
ensure that the conpany’s financial information was accurately
recorded and di sclosed to the public.

30. Under these securities |aws and regul ations,
Wor |l dCom was required to, anong other things (a) file with the
SEC annual financial statenents audited by an i ndependent
accountant; (b) file with the SEC quarterly updates of its
financial statenents that disclosed its financial condition and
the results of its business operations for each three-nonth
period; (c) devise and maintain a systemof internal accounting
controls sufficient to provide reasonabl e assurances that the
conpany’s transactions were recorded as necessary to permt
preparation of financial statenments in conformty wth Generally
Accept ed Accounting Principles and other applicable criteria; and
(d) make and keep books, records, and accounts that accurately
and fairly reflected the conpany’ s busi ness transacti ons.

31. At all tinmes relevant to this Indictnent,
Worl dCom s quarterly and annual financial statenments were
transmtted to the New York, New York offices of Merrill
Communi cations LLC (“Merrill”), a filing agent that assisted

conpanies in electronically filing periodic reports wth the SEC

and were thereafter transmtted electronically by Merrill or a
Merrill subcontractor, |located in New York, New York, to the SEC
for filing.

17



32. The quarterly and annual reports filed by Wrl dCom
for the third quarter of 2000 through the first quarter of 2002
i ncluded financial statements that reflected the above-descri bed
fraudul ent adjustnents to Wrl dCom s expenses and revenue, which
had been nade solely in an effort to satisfy anal ysts’
expect ati ons.

33. BERNARD J. EBBERS, Scott D. Sullivan, and their
co-conspirators failed to disclose in WrldComis SEC filings, or
in any other public statenent, the artificial adjustnments to
Wor| dCom s expenses and revenue. By directing these adjustnents
to be made, and fal sely concealing the adjustnments fromthe SEC
and nenbers of the investing public, EBBERS, Sullivan, and their
co-conspirators disguised WrldComi s true operating perfornance
and financial condition fromthe SEC and the investing public.

As a result, EBBERS, Sullivan, and their co-conspirators caused
Worl dComto report financial results, which, as EBBERS, Sullivan,
and their co-conspirators knew, exceeded by material anounts

Worl dComi s actual financial results in each reporting period.

Fal se Statements And M sl eadi ng Om ssi ons
In WorldConmis Public Statenents

34. In statenents and presentations nade on behal f of
Worl dCom to nenbers of the investing public, securities analysts,
and ot hers, BERNARD J. EBBERS, Scott D. Sullivan, and their co-
conspirators falsely described WrldConis true operating

performance and financial condition, and omtted to disclose
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facts necessary to nmake those statenents conplete, accurate, and
not m sleading. EBBERS and Sullivan (a) made statenents about
Wor| dComi s operating performance and financial condition which,
as they knew, reflected the above-described fraudul ent
adj ustnments to WrldConmi s expenses and revenue, and (b) failed to
di scl ose that they had caused others to mani pulate artificially
Wor | dComi s expenses and revenue in an effort to neet anal ysts’
expect ati ons.

35. Followi ng the close of each reporting period from
the third quarter of 2000 through the first quarter of 2002,
BERNARD J. EBBERS, Scott D. Sullivan, and their co-conspirators
made statenents to the investing public, including on conference
calls held wth analysts and investors. |In these statenents,
EBBERS and Sul livan made materially fal se statenents concerni ng
Worl dComi s financial results and operating performance and
omtted to state facts necessary to nmake the statenents that were
made conpl ete, accurate, and not m sl eading. Anong the
materially fal se statenents and m sl eadi ng om ssi ons made by
EBBERS and Sul livan were the foll ow ng:

a. On or about Cctober 26, 2000, during a

conference call with anal ysts, EBBERS nade the foll ow ng
statenent, which he knew was fal se:

We are pleased with our industry-Ieading

incremental revenue growth of $1.1 billion
this quarter. Commercial services revenues
of $6.4 billion is up 19% year-over-year.
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And while we continued to hit bunps in the
road in the dial-up Internet business, we did
produce good results in dedicated Internet
and our consuner services businesses. Al in
all, this was a solid quarter for Wrl dCom

b. On or about Cctober 26, 2000, during a
conference call with analysts, Sullivan nmade the foll ow ng
statenent, which he knew was fal se:

This was another solid quarter for Wrl dCom
Cash earnings per share increased 21%to

$0. 57 per share. Earnings per share

i ncreased 27%to $0.47 per share.

C. On or about February 8, 2001, during a
conference call with anal ysts, EBBERS nade the foll ow ng
statenent, which he knew was fal se:

On the Worl dCom si de of the business, we are
sticking wwth our 12%to 15%revenue growth
gui dance for 2001. Let nme restate that. On
the Worl dCom si de of the business we are
sticking wwth our 12%to 15%  revenue gui dance
for 2001. That’'s the range of the average
that we will achieve throughout the year, and
we w il be increasing that revenue growh
rate between the first quarter and the end of
t he year.

d. On or about April 26, 2001, during a
conference call with anal ysts, EBBERS nade the foll ow ng
statenent, which he knew was fal se:

Worl dComis certainly not i mune to the
effects of the econonmy. W are being

i npacted |i ke everyone else. But, with the
visibility we have in our significant growh
engi nes, we continue to have confidence in
our ability to achieve our 12 to 15% 2001
gromh target on the WrldComtracker. And I
guess the thing that always frustrates ne

20



when | hear people talk about visibility as

it’s kind of Iike landing a plane - how nuch
visibility do you really have? And so

t hought | would just conpare it to a weat her
forecast and say that if we | ook out for the
remai nder of 2001, we do not see any storns

on the horizon at this tine.

e. On or about Cctober 25, 2001, during a
conference call with analysts, Sullivan nmade the foll ow ng
statenent, which he knew was fal se:

Let me reiterate the main points Bernie

[ EBBERS] nmade. First, we reported a solid
quarter of double-digit revenue growth in a
chal | engi ng economic climate . . .

Wor | dCom Group posted 12% revenue gromﬁh in
the third quarter, with Data & | nternet
grow ng at a conbined rate of 22%this
guarter. Data revenues were $2.3 billion and
grew 18%in the third quarter.

f. On or about February 7, 2002, during a
television interview on a CNBC program EBBERS nmade the foll ow ng
statenent, which he knew was fal se:

The new day is that we’'re going, we have,
finally this nmorning had a chance to put to
rest all the runors that have been
circulating about us. None of which have
been true. W have been a very sound
financial conpany. W’ ve been very
conservative on our accounting practices and
we wanted an opportunity for the |ast couple
of weeks when we’ve seen this trenmendous | oss
of market capitalization in our stock to be
able to address the issues.

As EBBERS and Sullivan knew, these statenents were materially
fal se and m sl eadi ng when they were made, because Wrl dCom s true

financial condition and operating performance, including its
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revenue grow h rate and EPS, were not as represented.

THE CONSPI RACY

36. Fromin or about Septenber 2000 through in or
about June 2002, in the Southern District of New York and
el sewhere, BERNARD J. EBBERS, the defendant, and others known and
unknown, unlawfully, willfully, and know ngly did conbi ne,
conspire, confederate, and agree together and with each other to
commt offenses against the United States, nanely (a) to commt
fraud in connection with the purchase and sal e of securities
i ssued by WorldCom in violation of Title 15, United States Code,
Sections 78j(b) and 78ff, and Title 17, Code of Federal
Regul ations, Section 240.10b-5; (b) to nake and cause to be nade
fal se and m sl eading statenents of material fact in applications,
reports, and docunents required to be filed under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules and regul ations thereunder, in
violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78nm(a) and
78ff; and (c) to falsify books, records, and accounts of
WrldCom in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections
78m(b) (2) (A), 78m(b)(5) and 78ff, and Title 17, Code of Federal
Regul ati ons, Section 240.13b2- 1.

hjects O The Conspiracy

Fraud I n Connection Wth The
Purchase And Sale O Securities

37. It was a part and an object of the conspiracy that
BERNARD J. EBBERS, the defendant, and ot hers known and unknown,
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unlawful Iy, willfully, and knowi ngly, directly and indirectly, by
use of the nmeans and instrunentalities of interstate commerce,
the mails, and the facilities of national securities exchanges,
woul d and did use and enpl oy mani pul ati ve and deceptive devices
and contrivances in connection with the purchase and sal e of
securities issued by WrldCom in violation of Title 17, Code of
Federal Regul ations, Section 240.10b-5, by (a) enpl oyi ng devi ces,
schenmes, and artifices to defraud; (b) maki ng and causing

Worl dComto nmake untrue statenents of material facts and omtting
to state material facts necessary in order to nmake the statenents
made, in the light of the circunstances under which they were
made, not m sleading; and (c) engaging in acts, practices, and
courses of business which operated and woul d operate as a fraud
and deceit upon the purchasers and sellers of Wrl dCom
securities, in violation of Title 15, United States Code,
Sections 78j(b) and 78ff.

Fal se Statenents In
Annual And Quarterly SEC Reports

38. It was further a part and an object of the
conspiracy that BERNARD J. EBBERS, the defendant, and ot hers
known and unknown, unlawfully, wllfully, and know ngly, in
applications, reports, and docunents required to be filed under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules and regul ati ons
t hereunder, would and did make and cause to be nmade statenents

that were false and msleading with respect to material facts, in
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violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78nm(a) and
78ff.

Fal se Books And Records

39. It was further a part and an object of the
conspiracy that BERNARD J. EBBERS, the defendant, and ot hers
known and unknown, unlawfully, willfully, and know ngly would and
did, directly and indirectly, falsify and cause to be falsified
books, records, and accounts subject to Section 13(b)(2) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, nanely books, records, and
accounts of WrldCom an issuer with a class of securities
regi stered pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which
Worl dCom was required to make and keep, accurately and fairly
reflecting, in reasonable detail, the transactions and
di spositions of the assets of WrldCom in violation of Title 15,
United States Code, Sections 78m(b)(2)(A), 78m(b)(5) and 78ff,
and Title 17, Code of Federal Regul ations, Section 240. 13b2-1.

Means And Methods OF The Conspiracy

40. Anong the neans and net hods by whi ch BERNARD J.
EBBERS, and his co-conspirators would and did carry out the
conspiracy were the foll ow ng:
a. EBBERS and Sul livan directed nenbers of
Wor | dComi s Revenue Accounting Departnent to book entries that
i ncreased revenue, solely in an effort to satisfy anal ysts’

expectations, thereby causing, anong other things, figures for
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Wor|l dComis publicly reported EPS, EBITDA, revenue growh rate,
and net incone to be false and materially m sl eadi ng.

b. Wth EBBERS s know edge and approval,

Sul l'ivan directed nmenbers of Worl dConmi s General Accounting
Department to book entries that reduced liability and reserve
accounts w thout supporting docunentation or proper business
rationale, thereby falsely inflating, anong other things, figures
for WrldConis publicly reported EPS, EBI TDA and net incone.

C. Wth EBBERS s know edge and approval,

Sul l'ivan directed nmenbers of Worl dConmis General Accounting
Departnent to transfer expenses fromline cost accounts to
capital expenditure accounts w thout business justification or
supporting docunentation, thereby falsely inflating, anong other
things, figures for WrldComi s publicly reported EPS, EBITDA, net
i ncome, and current assets.

d. EBBERS, Sullivan, and their co-conspirators
caused WrldComto file publicly with the SEC quarterly and
annual reports that materially m sstated, anong ot her things,
figures for WrldConmi s EPS, EBITDA, net incone, assets, and
lTabilities.

e. EBBERS, Sullivan, and their co-conspirators
provi ded fal se and m sl eading financial information to the

i nvesting public and anal ysts.
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Overt Acts

41. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect its
illegal objects, BERNARD J. EBBERS and his co-conspirators
coommtted the follow ng overt acts, anong others, in the Southern
District of New York and el sewhere:

a. I n or about October 2000, EBBERS and Sul livan
di scussed Worl dComi s deteriorating financial health and poor
operating performance, and the inproper adjustnents required to
meet anal ysts’ expectations.

b. On or about Cctober 26, 2000, EBBERS and
Sul l'ivan provided fal se and m sl eading financial information to
securities analysts and the investing public.

C. I n or about March 2001, EBBERS and Sul livan
di scussed Worl dComi s deteriorating financial health and poor
operating performance, and agreed to capitalize line costs solely
in an effort to satisfy analysts’ expectations for Wrl dConi s
EPS, EBI TDA, and net incone.

d. In or about April 2001, with EBBERS s
knowl edge and approval, Sullivan directed nenbers of Wrl dConi s
General Accounting Departnent to transfer approximately $771
mllion in line cost expenses to capital accounts in WrldConi s

general | edger.
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e. On or about April 26, 2001, EBBERS and
Sul l'i van provided fal se and m sl eading financial information to
securities analysts and the investing public.

f. On or about June 19, 2001, Sullivan left a
voi cemai | message for EBBERS which stated, in part:

This MonRev just keeps getting worse and

worse. The copy, the latest copy that you

and | have al ready has accounting fluff in it
. all one time stuff or junk that’s

already in the nunbers. Wth the nunbers

bei ng, you know, off as far as they were, |

didn't think that this stuff was already in

t here.

g. In or about July 2001, with EBBERS s know edge
and approval, Sullivan directed nenbers of the General Accounting
Department to transfer approximtely $560 mllion in line cost
expenses to capital accounts in WrldCom s general | edger.

h. On or about July 10, 2001, EBBERS sent a
menorandumto a seni or Wirl dCom of ficer requesting information
concerning “those one tinme events that had to happen in order for
us to have a chance to nmake our nunbers.”

i. In or about Cctober 2001, wth EBBERS s
knowl edge and approval, Sullivan directed nenbers of Wrl dConmi s
General Accounting Departnent to transfer approximately $743
mllion in line cost expenses to capital accounts in WrldConi s
general | edger.

J. On or about Cctober 25, 2001, EBBERS and

Sul l'ivan provided fal se and m sl eading financial information to
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securities analysts and the investing public.

k. In or about February 2002, with EBBERS' s
knowl edge and approval, Sullivan directed nenbers of Wrl dConi s
General Accounting Departnent to transfer approximately $941
mllion in line cost expenses to capital accounts in WrldConi s
general | edger.

. On or about February 7, 2002, EBBERS and
Sul l'i van provided fal se and m sl eading financial information to
securities analysts and the investing public.

m On or about March 13, 2002, EBBERS and
Sul l'ivan signed Wrl dConmis Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
Year Endi ng Decenber 31, 2001.

n. On or about March 13, 2002, EBBERS and
Sul l'i van caused Wrl dComi s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
Year Endi ng Decenber 31, 2001 to be filed with the SEC from New
Yor k, New Yor k.

0. In or about April 2002, with EBBERS s
knowl edge and approval, Sullivan directed nenbers of Wrl dConi s
General Accounting Departnent to transfer approximately $818
mllion in line cost expenses to capital accounts in WrldConi s

general | edger.
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p. On or about April 25, 2002, EBBERS and
Sul l'ivan provided fal se and m sl eading financial information to
securities analysts and the investing public.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.)

COUNT _TWO
(Securities Fraud)

The Grand Jury further charges:

42. The all egations contai ned in paragraphs 1 through
35 and paragraphs 40 and 41 of this Indictnment are repeated and
realleged as if fully set forth herein.

43. Fromin or about Septenber 2000 up to and
including in or about June 2002, in the Southern District of New
York and el sewhere, BERNARD J. EBBERS, the defendant, unlawfully,
willfully and know ngly, directly and indirectly, by the use of
the means and instrunentalities of interstate commerce, and of
the mails, and of facilities of national securities exchanges, in
connection with the purchase and sale of securities, used and
enpl oyed mani pul ati ve and deceptive devices and contrivances in
violation of Title 17, Code of Federal Regul ations, Section
240. 10b-5 by (a) enploying devices, schenes and artifices to
defraud; (b) making untrue statenents of material fact and
omtting to state material facts necessary in order to make the
statenents nmade, in the light of the circunstances under which

they were made, not m sleading; and (c) engaging in acts,
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practices and courses of business which operated and woul d
operate as a fraud and deceit upon purchasers and sellers of
Wor |1 dCom securities.
(Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff;
Title 17, Code of Federal Regul ations, Section 240.10b-5;
Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.)

COUNTS THREE THROUGH NI NE

(False Filing Wth The SEC)

The Grand Jury further charges:

44, The all egations contai ned in paragraphs 1 through
35 and paragraphs 40 and 41 of this Indictnment are repeated and
realleged as if fully set forth herein.

45. On or about the dates |isted below, in the
Southern District of New York and el sewhere, BERNARD J. EBBERS,
the defendant, unlawfully, willfully, and know ngly, nade and
caused to be nmade statenents in reports and docunents required to
be filed wiwth the SEC under the Act and the rules and regul ati ons
pronul gated thereunder, which statenments were fal se and
m sl eading with respect to material facts, to wit, EBBERS caused
others to submt in New York, New York, the filings |isted bel ow

to the United States Securities and Exchange Conm ssi on:

COUNT FI LI NG APPROXI MATE
DATE OF FI LI NG
THREE Form 10-Q for WrldCom Inc., 11/ 14/ 00
for the Third Quarter of 2000
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FOUR Form 10-K for WrldCom Inc., 3/ 30/ 01
for the year endi ng Decenber
31, 2000

FI VE Form 10-Q for WorldCom Inc., 5/ 15/ 01
for the First Quarter of 2001

SI X Form 10-Q for WrldCom Inc., 8/ 14/ 01
for the Second Quarter of 2001

SEVEN Form 10-Q for WrldCom Inc., 11/ 14/ 01
for the Third Quarter of 2001

El GHT Form 10-K for WrldCom Inc., 3/ 13/ 02
for the Year Endi ng Decenber
31, 2001

NI NE Form 10-Q for WrldCom Inc., 5/ 15/ 02
for the First Quarter of 2002

(Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78nm(a) and 78ff;
Title 17, Code of Federal Regul ations, Section 240.13a-1;
and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.)

FOREPERSON DAVI D N. KELLEY
United States Attorney
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